
CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 24, 2024 COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 

7:00 PM COUNCIL CHAMBERS, ROOM 302 
128 SMITH ST. PLYMOUTH, WI 53073 

AGENDA 

1. Call to order and roll call:

2. Pledge of Allegiance.

3. Approval of the Consent Agenda (Alderpersons may request removal of item(s), or 
part thereof without debate or vote):

A. Approve minutes of the meeting held Tuesday, September 10, 2024
B. Approve City and Utility Reports:

I. Electric, Water and Sewer Sales Report – August 2024
II. Utility Related Write Offs for September - $1,744.98

C. Minutes acknowledged for filing – Finance & Personnel Committee: 
September 10 - Library Board: August 5 – Plan Commission: September 5 –
Plymouth Housing Authority: September 11

D. Approve Annual Mobile Home Park Application: Schmidt Properties –
Cedar View Mobile Home Park

E. Approve Room Tax Permit Application for TDW Rentals, LLC at 306 N 
Pleasant View Rd.

4. Audience Comments: Citizens comments must be recognized by the mayor or 
presiding officer and are limited to three minutes per person from those signed in on 
the registration sheet located at the back of the Council Chambers prior to the start 
of the meeting.

5. Items removed from Consent Agenda:

6. Proclamation:
A. Recognition of Plymouth Community Television (TV-14) – Don 

Pohlman, Mayor

7. Resolution:
A. No 10. Consideration and Possible Action on Resolution Creating Tax 

Incremental District No. 7, Approving its Project Plan and Establishing 
its Boundaries. – Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator / Utilities Manager

8. New Business:
A. Approval of Mill Pond Dam Construction Agreement – Tim Blakeslee, 

City Administrator / Utilities Manager

9. Entertain a Motion to go into Closed Session for the following:
Pursuant to Wis. Stat (1)(e) deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public 
properties, the investing of public funds or conducting other specified public business, 
whenever competitive or bargaining require a closed session –Negotiations with Wangard



 
10. Entertain a motion to go into open session 

 
11. Discussion and possible action on Closed Session item/s 

 
12. Adjourn to 7:00 PM on Tuesday, October 8, 2024 

 
It is likely a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may be in attendance at the above stated meeting to 
gather information.  No action will be taken by any governmental body at the above stated meeting other than the governmental body 
specifically referred to above in this notice. 
 
Please note that, upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate 
aids and services.  For additional information or to request this service, please contact the City of Plymouth ADA Coordinator Leah 
Federwisch, located in the Plymouth Utilities office at 900 County Road PP, Plymouth, WI or call 920-893-3853.  



CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 COMMON COUNCIL MEETING  

7:00 PM COUNCIL CHAMBERS, ROOM 302 
128 SMITH ST. PLYMOUTH, WI 53073 

 
UNOFFICIAL MINUTES 

 
1. Call to order and roll call: Mayor Pohlman called the meeting to order. On the call of the 

roll the following were present: Angie Matzdorf, Diane Gilson, Mike Penkwitz, John 
Binder, Dave Herrmann and John Nelson. Also present: City Administrator/Utilities 
Manager Tim Blakeslee, Police Chief Ken Ruggles, Director of Public Works Cathy 
Austin, Building Inspector Pete Scheuerman, and City Clerk Anna Voigt. 

 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
3. Approval of the Consent Agenda (Alderpersons may request removal of item(s), or 

part thereof without debate or vote): Motion was made by Penkwitz/Binder to approve 
the consent agenda. Upon the call of the roll, all vote aye. Motion carried. 

A. Approve minutes of the meeting held Tuesday, August 27, 2024 
B. Approve City and Utility Reports: 

I. List of City & Utility Vouchers dated 08/01/2024 – 08/31/2024 
C. Minutes acknowledged for filing – Finance & Personnel Committee: August 

27 – Committee of the Whole: August 27 – Community Television: August 12 
D. Building Report for August 2024 – 44 permits at $817,421.00 

 
4. Audience Comments: Citizens comments must be recognized by the mayor or 

presiding officer and are limited to three minutes per person from those signed in on 
the registration sheet located at the back of the Council Chambers prior to the start 
of the meeting: Julia Griffin spoke about concerns of the new rezone at Hill & Dale and 
Hwy 67 being proposed to Council. Griffin is concerned about the traffic at the 
intersection and askes the Council to vote no for the rezone. Hat Vrba stated she agreed 
with everything Jula Griffin. Val Freund spoke about concerns for the new rezone at Hill 
& Dale and the increased traffic that it will bring to the area.  

 
5. Items removed from Consent Agenda: None 

 
6. Public Hearings followed by Council Discussion and Action: Mayor Pohlman opened 

the public hearings at 7:06 PM.  There being no public comment Mayor Pohlman closed 
the public hearings at 7:11 PM 

A. Ordinance No. 13 – An Ordinance Amending 13-1-92, of the General 
Code of Ordinances of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Regarding 
Parking Stall Requirements–City Administrator / Utilities Manager 
Blakeslee explained the City regulates the number of parking stalls required 
for an individual parcel’s particular use in the zoning code. Based on 
conversation with developers, some of the City’s parking code related to retail 



and office uses are outdated due to changes in consumer habits. This code 
change would require a developer prove via parking study an appropriate 
presentation to Plan Commission that their parking stall request can support 
the proposed use. Motion was made by Matzdorf/Hildebrand to approve 
Ordinance No. 13. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

B. Ordinance No. 14 – An Ordinance Amending Sections 13-1-140 and 13-1-
221 of the City of Plymouth Zoning Code Regarding Accessory 
Structures –City Administrator / Utilities Manager Blakeslee explained the 
Building Inspector/Zoning Administrator has received feedback from a 
number of residents that Section 13-1-140 and 13-1-221 of the code has not 
been amended as vehicle size increases, more residents have recreational 
items and residents continue to make improvements to their homes with 
additions such as pavilions, greenhouses and sheds. Motion was made by 
Herrmann/Matzdorf to approve Ordinance No.14. Upon the call of the roll, all 
voted aye. Motion carried. 

 
7. Proclamations: 

A. Recognition of Constitution Week in the City of Plymouth  
September 17-23 – Motion was made by Nelson/Binder to Recognize 
Constitution week in the City of Plymouth. A unanimous aye vote was cast. 
Motion carried. Mayor Don Pohlman presented the Proclamation to the 
Plymouth Chapter of the Daughters of the American Revolution. 

 
8. New Business: 

A. Mayor Appoints Council Approves John Nelson to Redevelopment 
Authority until August 2025 – Mayor Pohlman Appointed John Nelson to 
the RDA. Motion was made by Hildebrand/Penkwitz a appoint John Nelson to 
the RDA. A unanimous aye vote was cast. Motion carried. 

B. Approval of Substation #5 Labor Contract Bids – City Administrator / 
Utilities Manager Blakeslee explained that the Plymouth Utilities is 
responsible for the construction and maintenance of electric distribution lines 
to local homes and businesses. The electric distribution equipment in the 
southwestern portion of the Plymouth service territory has reached near 
capacity in recent years. The PSC approved the CA to construct a new 
substation in the Town of Mitchell at their open meeting on February 1, 2024. 
Staff is now moving forward with bidding the various components of the 
substation project. Bids for Plymouth Substation #5 Structure and Materials 
were opened on September 6, 2024. Motion was made by Binder/Herrmann to 
approve Plymouth Substation #5 Construction Bids from MJ Electric for 
$2,175,626.80 subject to attorney/staff review and approval of the terms and 
conditions. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried.  
 

9. Entertain a Motion to go into Closed Session for the Following: Motion was made by 
Gilson/Matzdorf to go into closed session. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion 
carried. 



Pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85 (1) (e) deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of 
public properties, the investing of public funds or conducting other specified 
public business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons for a closed session 
– Mill Pond Dam 

 
10. Entertain a Motion to go into Open Session: Motion was made by Penkwitz/Matzdorf 

to go into open session. Upon the call of the roll, all vote aye. Motion carried. 
 

11. Discussion and Possible Action on Closed Session Item: None 
 

12. Adjourn to 7:00 PM on Tuesday, September 24, 2024: Motion was made by 
Herrman/Nelson to adjourn. Upon the call of the roll, all vote aye. Motion carried.   



Plymouth Utilities
AUGUST 2024

SALES & REVENUE



August 2024 Electric Sales



August 2024 Electric Revenue

Overall revenue is down from 2023 as a result of reduced PCAC rates. In turn, Purchase Power expense 
is down.



August 2024 Water Revenue



August 2024 Sewer Revenue





Page: 1Transaction Register - Daily by Reference NumberPLYMOUTH UTILITIES

Sep 17, 2024 12:08PMDates: 09/17/2024 - 09/17/2024

Report Criteria:

Selected types: Write Off

Name
Customer
Number Type

Reference
Number Description Source ID

Check
Number Amount Msg Service

Write Off

09/17/2024

BRISBIN, RYAN 20.88.15594.13 Write 1 WRITE-OFF SDC 772.67- M Multiple

DINKELMAN, SOPHIE 17.87.03133.21 Write 2 WRITE-OFF SDC 162.17- M Multiple

LIEDKE, ASHLEY 9.88.50121.20 Write 3 WRITE-OFF SDC 373.15- M Multiple

PETERSON, JESSE 14.88.04978.20 Write 4 WRITE-OFF SDC 112.49- M Multiple

SONNENBURG, AMANDA 12.87.45030.10 Write 5 WRITE-OFF SDC 324.50- M Multiple

Total 09/17/2024: 1,744.98-

Total Write Off: 1,744.98-

Grand Totals: 1,744.98-

Msg: M= Manually Allocated    F= Final Bill



 

 
 
 
 
 

UNOFFICIAL MINUTES 
 

FINANCE & PERSONNEL COMMITTEE OF THE 
PLYMOUTH COMMON COUNCIL 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
128 SMITH STREET 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
 

TUESDAY SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 
 
 
 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call: Finance & Personnel Committee Chair Penkwitz called the 
meeting to order at 6:15 PM. On call of the roll, the following members were present: 
Mayor Pohlman, John Nelson, Diane Gilson and Mike Penkwitz. Also present were: John 
Binder, Angie Matzdorf, Greg Hildebrand, Police Chief Ken Ruggles, Finance Manager 
Chris Russo, Director of Public Works Cathy Austin, City Administrator/Utilities Manager 
Tim Blakeslee, and City Clerk Anna Voigt. 

 
2. Approval of Meeting Minutes for August 27, 2024 meeting: Motion was made by 

Gilson/Pohlman to approve the minutes for August 27. A unanimous aye vote was 
cast. Motion carried. 

 
3. 2025 Budget Work Session – Capital Improvement Plan Budget, Small Fund 

Budgets (Committed, RLF, USDA RLF, Housing, WSL RLF, TIF4, TIF5, TIF6, Health, 
Risk, ARPA): Blakeslee presented the proposed Capital Project Fund and Small Funds. 
Some of the bigger items in the Capital Project Fund includes a Street Sweeper, Road 
Saver, Mill Pond Dam Project, Aquatic Center Pool Floor, Street work for Highland Ave 
and Collins St., Badger Books, squad car, and body cameras for the Police Department. 
Blakeslee reviewed the small funds. Pohlman asked how the lead service replacement 
was going in the City. Austin stated she is currently working on mapping to add to the 
website by October. Nelson suggested the City looking into adding solar panels to the 
roofs of city buildings as roof are being replaced.  

 
4. Adjournment: Motion was made by Nelson/Penkwitz to adjourn the meeting. A 

unanimous aye vote was cast. Motion carried.   



 

 
PLYMOUTH PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

MEETING MINUTES 
August 5, 2024 

 
Meeting was called to order by K. Murray at 6:30 pm.  Present were: S. 
Britt, S. Gloede, B. McKnight, K. Murray, M. Hummitzsch, M. Kaczkowski 
and P. Norlander. Absent were: A. Matzdorf. Also present: Library Director 
L. Jochman, M. Taylor, FEH Design, and B. Ludvik, FEH Design. 
 
Public Comment 
 
There was no public comment. 
 
Motion by P. Norlander, second by S. Gloede to move to Old Business 
Library Expansion Project. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Old Business 
 
FEH Design B. Ludvik presented the final copy of the conceptual design 
booklet. FEH Design M. Taylor talked further about the community survey 
and the largely positive response. The Board discussed how to keep the 
project moving forward and next steps with or without the state flexible 
facilities grant. 
 
M. Taylor and B. Ludvik left the meeting. 
 
Motion by S. Britt, second by M. Hummitzsch to approve the minutes of the 
July 1, 2024 meeting. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Motion by B McKnight, second by S. Britt to approve the financial report for 
July 2024.  Motion passed unanimously.  
 
Director L. Jochman reviewed some highlighted items on her monthly 
report. This included an update on staffing, an update on the flexible 
facilities grant application, and a donation for large print and audiobooks. 



 

Old Business 
 
The Board discussed ways to keep the community updated about the 
expansion project which includes a page on the library website and a way 
for community members to sign up for email updates. Other ways to raise 
awareness were discussed and will be talked about again at the next 
meeting. 
 
There were no new updates on the budget for next year. Director L. 
Jochman will meet with City leadership in August to discuss the budget 
further. 
 
New Business 
 
Director L. Jochman presented the two quotes received for the copy 
machine lease. Price of the quotes were very similar. Motion by S. Gloede 
to stay with the current vendor, Complete Office, second by M. Hummitzch. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Announcements 
 
Director L. Jochman reminded the Board that the next meeting will be held 
on Monday, September 9 due to the Labor Day Holiday. 
 
Motion by M. Hummitzsch, second by P. Norlander to adjourn.  Motion 
passed.  Meeting was adjourned at 8:33 pm. 
 
 

Submitted by, Leslie Jochman 
Library Board Secretary 

 



 
 
City of Plymouth  Telephone: (920) 893-3741 
128 Smith St. – PO Box 107  Facsimile: (920) 893-9590 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107  e-mail:  inspectorpete@plymouthgov.com 
 
September 5, 2024 
 
 
Members present: Chairman Don Pohlman, Jane Meyer, Jeremy Schellin, Greg Hildebrand, Ron Nicolaus, John 
Wyatt, Justin Schmitz 
Absent: None 
 
Staff Present; Administrator Tim Blakeslee, DPW Mgr. Cathy Austin  
 
The Plan Commission meeting was called to order by Chairman Pohlman at 6:00 PM.  
 

1.) Approval of Minutes from August 1, 2024.Motion to approve made by Nicolaus, and seconded 
by Wyatt. On the roll all voted aye to approve. 
 

2.) Site Plan Seeking approval; 818 E. Clifford St. Tyler Chislom was present as the Builder. 
Motion to approve made by Nicolaus, and seconded by Wyatt. No discussion, all voted yes to 
pass, motion passed. 

 
PER ANNOUNCEMENT AT THE MEETING, ITEMS A 8 & 9 HAVE BEEN MOVED TO THIS 
POSITION. NO OBJECTIONS 

 
8.)  PUBLIC HEARING regarding the proposed creation of Tax Incremental District No.7, the        
proposed boundaries of the District, and the proposed Project Plan for the District. Administrator 
Blakeslee addressed the Commission regarding some of the history of the most recent TID being 
#4, which recently closed. Currently there is a need for local new housing, Kala Thorpe from 
Ehlers and Associates reviewed the newly proposed TID #7, it’s boundaries as well anticipated 
revenues and closing. State statues requirements are being addressed in the proposal, The Joint 
review Board met prior to the Plan Commission meeting at 5:00. The TID proposal will be brought 
to City Council September 24, 2024. Act XII will change the TID process as of October 1, 2024. 
There is anticipated $69.4 Million in property value increase anticipated. A handout booklet was 
given to each Commission member. Currently within the TID, Wangard Development and the 
Sheboygan County Economic Development Commission and in negotiations for substantial 
development within this newly proposed district. Kayla went over/reviewed the project plan, 
explained revenues, and how the proceeds are to be spent. Chairman Pohlman closed the public 
hearing at 6:35.  
 
9.) Consideration and possible action on a “Resolution Establishing the Boundaries of and 
Approving the Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No.7”. Member Schellin inquired 
about the Senior Housing, and Blakeslee responded that there is a large project being proposed, 
and should be coming to the October Plan Commission for initial approvals. The current position 
of the developer is that [he] would not be seeking TID monies for this development. Motion to 
recommend approval to Council was made by Schellin, and seconded by Nicolaus. On the roll all 
voted yes to approve. 
 
 

 

mailto:inspectorpete@plymouthgov.com


3.) Certified Survey Map seeking approval; Present: Aaron Pankow, and Jim Pankow property 
owners, and Jim Lynberg from Point of Beginning. NOTE: the following 2 agenda items all 
related to this parcel, thus discussion would include comments about the Comp Plan 
amendment, and rezoning. Administrator Blakeslee gave a brief overview of this set of 
approvals. As there is no real necessity for Agriculture Land within the City, the Comp Plan 
had some irregularities within it indicating such. Blakeslee went through adjacent land uses 
and Zoning. Chairman Pohlman commented that all parcels do come in to the City as 
Agricultural Zoned, and are rezoned from there as to their intended uses, with approvals. 
Member Hildebrand confirmed that the driveway being proposed is coming off of Hill and Dale 
Road and not State Hwy 67. Member Wyatt inquired as to why this wouldn’t be all within the 
B3 Zone. Blakeslee explained it’s done as requested per the Developer. Hildebrand also 
commented that being held as Agriculture land, it may be given some tax breaks due to use. 
Motion to recommend to council made by Nicolaus, seconded by Schellin. On the roll 6 yes 
votes, Meyer voting no. Motion passes. 
 

4.) Parcel seeking a recommendation for an amendment to the 2022 Comprehensive Plan 
Map; Parcel #59271829207 Seeing no discussion Chairman Pohlman called for a motion. 
Motion to approve made by Nicolaus, and seconded by Schellin. On the roll 6 yes votes and 
Meyer voting no. Motion passes. 

 
5.)  Parcel seeking recommendation for rezoning from current A - Agricultural to B3 – 

Highway Business; Parcel #59271829207; Seeing no discussion Chairman Pohlman called 
for a motion. Motion to approve made by Nicolaus, and seconded by Schmitz. On the roll 6 yes 
votes and Meyer voting no. Motion passes. 

 
6.) Ordinance Seeking recommendation for approval; Modifications to Sec 13-1-140 

Accessory Use Structures are being proposed, and thus requires a recommendation to City 
Council for approval. Administrator Blakeslee gave an overview/history leading up to the final 
draft copy, relating our current Ordinance is dated, and a peer community review was 
performed. The Committee of the Whole had recommended approval. Motion to approve made 
by Wyatt, and seconded by Nicolaus. On the roll all voted yes to recommend approval. 

 
7.) Ordinance Seeking recommendation for approval; Modifications to Sec 13-1-92 Parking 

requirements are being proposed; Administrator Blakeslee gave a brief overview of the issue 
the change would be addressing. The primary issue is many of the retail stores being 
developed have performed studies and have found that parking lots are not being utilized as 
much as they were in the past. Wyatt commented that a change to would still require a 
request. There is Ordinance language that would require a list of things that needed to be 
presented to be considered for a size reduction. Motion to approve made by Nicolaus, and 
seconded by Schellin. On the roll all voted yes to recommend approval.  

 
8.) Communication – Letters, E-mails, or reports Related to the Plan Commission; Secretary 

Scheuerman alerted the members that October’s Agenda would have several large items 
seeking approval.  

 
Motion to adjourn made by Wyatt, and seconded by Schellin. 7:17 PM 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
Pete Scheuerman 
Secretary  











 
 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
PROCLAMATION 

 
 

Whereas, Plymouth Community Television (TV-14) serves the Spectrum 
subscribers in the surrounding area with quality programming on 
Channels 14 & 20 and there are 1,240 subscribers on YouTube; and 
 
Whereas, Plymouth Community Television covers select home and 
away varsity sports at Plymouth High School, Plymouth School Board 
meetings, City Common Council meetings, Parades, Stock Car Races, 
and Church Services; and 
 
Whereas, TV-14 hosts sit down interviews with local leaders called 
“Action14” and interviews veterans on a show called “Vet2Vet”; and 
 
Whereas, Plymouth Community Television has served the Plymouth 
Community since 1983 and staffs 8-9 part time employees; and 
 
NOW, THEFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that I, Don O. Pohlman, Mayor of the 
City of Plymouth and on behalf of the City Council, recognize the 
Plymouth Community Television for their dedication to bringing quality 
and accessible programming to the Community.  
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have set my hand and caused the seal of the 
City of Plymouth to be applied this 24th day of September, 2024. 
 
 
 

___________________________ 
       Donald O. Pohlman, 

Mayor 
       City of Plymouth 



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  September 18, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council 
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager  
 
RE: Consideration and possible action on a “Resolution Creating Tax Incremental 

District No. 7, Approving its Project Plan and Establishing its Boundaries. 

Background: Tax incremental financing (TIF) is the most 
effective tool Wisconsin cities and villages have to spur 
economic development and job creation. Municipalities 
have been using TIF successfully since 1975. The TIF 
process allows a municipality to pay for public 
improvements and other eligible costs within a designated 
area, called a tax incremental district (TID), using the 
future taxes collected on the TID’s increased property 
value to repay the cost of the improvements. The rationale 
behind TIF is that the investment will promote private 
development, jobs, and tax base growth that would not 
otherwise occur in the absence of the TID. For a TID 101, 
visit: https://www.ehlers-inc.com/wp-
content/uploads/2023/02/Wisconsin-TID-101-2023-REV-
2023-02-06-.pdf. Plymouth currently has three districts: TID #4, TID 
#5, and TID #6, which can be seen pictured to the right (Please note 
that although TID #4 is formally closed, it was extended to collect a 
final year of increment for the affordable housing extension permitted 
by state law). 

Following the recent closure and enormous success of Plymouth TID 
#4, the City has been working to create TID #7. TID #7 is a proposed 
Mixed-Use District comprising approximately 246.47 acres located in 
the northeastern part of the City (pictured to the right). City staff, in 
coordination with Ehlers (the City’s financial consultants), have 
developed the attached TID #7 Project Plan, which lays the 
framework for the creation of TID #7 which is current planned to 
include a single-family development, a multi-family development, a 
commercial development, and significant public infrastructure 
improvements. At the meeting tonight, Ehlers will present the project 
plan and answer questions. 

TID #7 will be created to support the costs of public infrastructure 
projects, property acquisition and site preparation costs, development incentives, and other 
project costs needed to support the development and redevelopment within the district. As 
required by state law, “but for” the use of TIF, the City would be unable to undertake the 
program of improvements outlined in the draft project plan.  

Current Plymouth TIDs 

Proposed TID#7 

https://www.ehlers-inc.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Wisconsin-TID-101-2023-REV-2023-02-06-.pdf
https://www.ehlers-inc.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Wisconsin-TID-101-2023-REV-2023-02-06-.pdf
https://www.ehlers-inc.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Wisconsin-TID-101-2023-REV-2023-02-06-.pdf


 
In summary, the proposed TID #7 district provides an excellent opportunity to leverage TIF to 
further support community housing, development, and infrastructure needs. 
 
Strategic Plan: The TID #7 district works to directly meet the following outcomes outlined in the 
Common Council’s 2023-2026 Strategic Plan: 

• Outcome: Expanded Economic Development 
• Outcome: TIF District Utilization Expanded 
• Outcome: Increased Housing Options for All 

 
Timeline and Recommendations: The Plymouth Joint Review Board met immediately prior to 
Plan Commission on September 5, 2024 to review and consider the TID #7 project plan. 
Consensus from the Joint Review Board was to move forward with the district  
 
The Plan Commission met on September 5, 2024 to consider TID#7.  The Plan Commission 
held a public hearing and unanimously approved a resolution approving the TID#7 project plan 
and district boundaries. The Plymouth Joint Review Board will then meet again on October 2, 
2024 to hold a final review and approval of the project plan.   
 
In addition, the creation of TID #7 by September 30, 2024 (based on the Common Council 
resolution date), provides the City with long-term levy benefits (50% closure levy adjustment for 
TIDs created on or before September 30, 2024 vs a 10% closure levy adjustment for TIDs 
created on October 1 or later due to a state law change). 
 
Staff Recommendation: Approve the resolution establishing the boundaries of and approving 
the project plan for Tax Incremental District No. 7. 

Attachments: 
• Resolution 
• Project Plan  

 
 



 
City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 7 Common Council Resolution 
 

   
RESOLUTION NO. ___________ 

 
RESOLUTION CREATING TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 7, 

APPROVING ITS PROJECT PLAN AND ESTABLISHING ITS BOUNDARIES  
CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Plymouth (the “City”) has determined that use of Tax Incremental Financing 

is required to promote development and redevelopment within the City; and 
 

WHEREAS, Tax Incremental District No. 7 (the “District”) is proposed to be created by the City as 
a mixed-use district in accordance with the provisions of Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105 (the "Tax 
Increment Law"); and 

 
WHEREAS, a Project Plan for the District has been prepared that includes: 

 
a. A statement listing of the kind, number and location of all proposed public works or 

improvements within the District, or to the extent provided in Wisconsin Statutes Sections 
66.1105(2)(f)1.k. and 66.1105(2)(f)1.n., outside of the District; 

b. An economic feasibility study; 
c. A detailed list of estimated project costs; 
d. A description of the methods of financing all estimated project costs and the time when the 

related costs or monetary obligations are to be incurred; 
e. A map showing existing uses and conditions of real property in the District; 
f. A map showing proposed improvements and uses in the District; 
g. Proposed changes of zoning ordinances, master plan, map, building codes and City 

ordinances; 
h. A list of estimated non-project costs; 
i. A statement of the proposed plan for relocation of any persons to be displaced; 
j. A statement indicating how the District promotes the orderly development of the City; 
k. An opinion of the City Attorney or of an attorney retained by the City advising that the plan is 

complete and complies with Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4)(f).; and 
 

WHEREAS, prior to its publication, a copy of the notice of public hearing was sent to the chief 
executive officers of Sheboygan County, the Plymouth Joint School District, and the Lakeshore Technical 
College District, and any other entities having the power to levy taxes on property located within the 
District, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax Increment Law; and 

 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax Increment Law, the Plan 

Commission, on September 5, 2024 held a public hearing concerning the project plan and boundaries and 
proposed creation of the District, providing interested parties a reasonable opportunity to express their 
views thereon; and 

 
WHEREAS, after said public hearing, the Plan Commission designated the boundaries of the 

District, adopted the Project Plan, and recommended to the Common Council that it create such District 
and approve the Project Plan. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Plymouth that: 
 

1. The boundaries of the District that shall be named "Tax Incremental District No. 7, City of 
Plymouth", are hereby established as specified in Exhibit A of this Resolution. 



 
City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 7 Common Council Resolution 
 

 
2. The District is created effective as of January 1, 2024. 
 
3. The Common Council finds and declares that: 

 
(a) Not less than 50% by area of the real property within the District is suitable for mixed-

use development as defined by Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(2)(cm). 
 

(b) Based upon the finding stated in 3.a. above, the District is declared to be a mixed-use 
district based on the identification and classification of the property included within 
the District. 

 
(c) The improvement of such area is likely to enhance significantly the value of 

substantially all of the other real property in the District. 
 

(d) The equalized value of the taxable property in the District plus the value increment 
of all other existing tax incremental districts within the City, does not exceed 12% of 
the total equalized value of taxable property within the City. 

 
(e) That there are no parcels to be included within the District that were annexed by the 

City within the preceding three-year period. 
 

(f) The City estimates that less than 35% of the territory within the District will be 
devoted to retail business at the end of the District’s maximum expenditure period, 
pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(5)(b).  

 
(g) The project costs relate directly to promoting mixed-use development in the District 

consistent with the purpose for which the District is created. 
 

(g) Lands proposed for newly platted residential development comprise no more than 
35% of the real property area within the District.  

 
(h) Costs related to newly platted residential development may be incurred based on the 

proposed development having a density of at least three (3) units per acre as defined 
in Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(2)(f)3.a.  

 
4. The Project Plan for "Tax Incremental District No. 7, City of Plymouth" (see Exhibit B) is 

approved, and the City further finds the Plan is feasible and in conformity with the master 
plan of the City. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to apply to the 

Wisconsin Department of Revenue, in such form as may be prescribed, for a "Determination of Tax 
Incremental Base", as of January 1, 2024, pursuant to the provisions of Wisconsin Statutes Section 
66.1105(5)(b). 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Section 66.1105(5)(f) of the Wisconsin Statutes that 
the City Assessor is hereby authorized and directed to identify upon the assessment roll returned and 
examined under Wisconsin Statutes Section 70.45, those parcels of property which are within the District, 
specifying thereon the name of the said District, and the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to 
make similar notations on the tax roll made under Section 70.65 of the Wisconsin Statutes. 
 



 
City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 7 Common Council Resolution 
 

 
Adopted this _________ day of _______________, 2024. 
 
 
      
Mayor 
 
 
 
      
City Clerk 
 



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LEGAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION  
OR  

MAP OF  
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 7  

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
 
 
 
 
 

[INCLUDED WITHIN PROJECT PLAN] 



 
 

EXHIBIT B - 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROJECT PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[DISTRIBUTED SEPARATELY] 



 
September 5, 2024 

 

PROJECT PLAN 
 

 City of Plymouth, 
Wisconsin 

Tax Incremental District No. 7 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Prepared by: 

Ehlers  
N19W24400 Riverwood Drive, 
Suite 100 
Waukesha, WI 53188 

 

BUILDING COMMUNITIES. IT’S WHAT WE DO.  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 2 

KEY DATES 
Organizational Joint Review Board Meeting Held: Scheduled for Sept 5, 2024 

Public Hearing Held: Scheduled for Sept 5, 2024 

Approval by Plan Commission: Scheduled for Sept 5 2024 

Adoption by Common Council: Scheduled for Sept 24, 2024 

Approval by the Joint Review Board: Scheduled for October 2, 2024 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Executive Summary .....................................................................................................................................3 

Preliminary Map of Proposed District Boundary ............................................................................ 6 

Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions .................................................................................... 8 

Preliminary Parcel List and Analysis ................................................................................................... 10 

Equalized Value Test .................................................................................................................................. 11 

Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All Proposed Public Works or 
Improvements Within the District ....................................................................................................... 12 

Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses ........................................................................ 18 

Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs ......................................................................................... 22 

Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods of Financing Estimated 
Project Costs and the Time When Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be 
Incurred .......................................................................................................................................................... 23 

Annexed Property ..................................................................................................................................... 28 

Estimate of Property to Be Devoted to Retail Business ........................................................... 28 

Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, Map, Building Codes and City 
Ordinances .................................................................................................................................................... 28 

Statement of the Proposed Method for the Relocation of any Persons to be Displaced
 ........................................................................................................................................................................... 29 

How Creation of the Tax Incremental District Promotes the Orderly Development of 
the City ........................................................................................................................................................... 29 

List of Estimated Non-Project Costs .................................................................................................30 

Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 
66.1105(4)(f) .................................................................................................................................................. 31 

Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments Estimated to be Paid by the 
Owners of Property in the Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions ...................................................... 33 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 3 

SECTION 1: 
Executive Summary 

DESCRIPTION OF DISTRICT 
Tax Incremental District (“TID”) No. 7 (“District”) is a proposed Mixed-Use 
District comprising approximately 246.47 acres located in the North Eastern 
part of the City. The District will be created to pay the costs of public 
infrastructure projects, property acquisition and site preparation costs, 
development incentives and other project costs needed to support the 
development and redevelopment within the District, with needed development 
of housing and job creation in the District (“Projects”) 

AUTHORITY 
The City is creating the District under the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 66.1105.  

ESTIMATED TOTAL PROJECT COST EXPENDITURES 
The City anticipates making total expenditures of approximately $27,576,148 
(“Project Costs”) to undertake the projects listed in this Project Plan (“Plan”). 
Project Costs include an estimated $6,955,000 in public infrastructure 
upgrades, an estimated $11,095,069 in development incentives, $480,000 in 
ongoing planning and administrative costs, and $9,046,079 in financing, 
principal and interest costs on long term debt. 

INCREMENTAL VALUATION 
The City projects that new land and improvements value of approximately 
$69,400,000 will result from the Project. Creation of this additional value will 
be made possible by the Project Costs made within the District. A table 
detailing assumptions as to the development timing and associated values is 
included in the Economic Feasibility Study located within this Plan. 

EXPECTED TERMINATION OF DISTRICT  
Based on the Economic Feasibility Study located within Section 9 of this Plan, 
the City anticipates that the District will generate sufficient tax increment to 
pay all Project Costs within 20 of its allowable 20 years. 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 
As required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105, and as documented in this Plan and the 
exhibits contained and referenced herein, the following findings are made: 

1. That “but for” the creation of this District, the development projected to 
occur as detailed in this Plan: 1) would not occur; or 2) would not occur in 
the manner, at the values, or within the timeframe desired by the City. In 
reaching this determination, the City has considered: 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 4 

The Developer’s representation that the Project is not economically viable 
without public participation based on extraordinary costs associated with 
demolition of structures and redevelopment of existing sites. Any 
development agreement that would include development incentives as part 
of this District would be negotiated by and approved by the Village Board.  
Development incentives shown in this Plan are not guaranteed at the shown 
funding level or the length of time outlined in the Plan.     

The substantial investment needed to provide the public infrastructure 
necessary to allow for development within the District. Absent the use of tax 
incremental financing, the City is unable to fully fund this program of 
infrastructure improvements. 

2. The economic benefits of the District, as measured by increased 
employment, business and personal income, and property value, are 
sufficient to compensate for the cost of the improvements. In making this 
determination, the City has considered that the Developer is likely to 
purchase goods and services from local suppliers in construction of the 
Project, and induced effects of employee households spending locally for 
goods and services from retailers, restaurants and service companies.  
 

3. The benefits of the proposal outweigh the anticipated tax increments to be 
paid by the owners of property in the overlying taxing jurisdictions. As 
required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(i)4., a calculation of the share of 
projected tax increments estimated to be paid by the owners of property in 
the overlying taxing jurisdictions has been prepared and can be found in this 
Plan. However, because the Project would not occur without the use of tax 
incremental financing, these tax increments would not be paid but for 
creation of the District. Accordingly, the City finds that the benefits 
expected to be realized as set forth in this Plan outweigh the value of the 
tax increments to be invested in the Project. 

4. Not less than 50% by area of the real property within the District is suitable 
for mixed use development as defined by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(cm). Lands 
proposed for newly-platted residential development comprise no more than 
35% of the real property area within the District. Costs related to newly-
platted residential development may be incurred based on the proposed 
development having a density of at least three (3) units per acre as defined 
in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)3.a. OR being located in a conservation 
subdivision as defined in Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1027(1)(a). OR being 
in a traditional neighborhood development as defined in Wis. Stat. § 
66.1027(1)(c). 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 5 

5. Based on the foregoing finding, the District is designated as a mixed-use 
district. 

6. The Project Costs relate directly to promoting mixed use development in 
the District, consistent with the purpose for which the District is created.  

7. Improvements to be made in the District are likely to significantly enhance 
the value of substantially all of the other real property in the District.  

8. The equalized value of taxable property in the District, plus the incremental 
value of all existing tax incremental districts within the City does not exceed 
12% of the total equalized value of taxable property within the City.  

9. The City estimates that less than 35% of the territory within the District will 
be devoted to retail business at the end of the District’s maximum 
expenditure period, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(5)(b).  

10. That there are no parcels to be included within the District that were 
annexed by the City within the three-year period preceding adoption of this 
Plan by Resolution.  

11. The Plan for the District is feasible and is in conformity with the Master Plan 
of the City.  

 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 6 

SECTION 2: 
Preliminary Map of Proposed District Boundary 

Map Found on Following Page. 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 7 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 8 

SECTION 3:  
Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions 

Map Found on Following Page. 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 9 

  



SECTION 4:  
Preliminary Parcel List and Analysis 

 

 

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 7

Base Property Information

Map Ref # Parcel Number Street Address Owner
Total 

Acreage Land Imp Total
Assessment 

Ratio Land Imp Total Industrial
Commercial/

Business

Previously-
Platted 

Residential

Newly-
Platted 

Residential
Suitable for 
Mixed Use

N/A ROW Areas 10.90
1 59271820848 N PLEASANT VIEW RD SNAACKZ LLC 5.00 1,100 0 1,100 88.19% 1,200 0 1,200 0.00 5.00 0.00 0.00 5.00 G4
2 59271820851 N PLEASANT VIEW RD SNAACKZ LLC 2.90 700 0 700 88.19% 800 0 800 0.00 2.90 0.00 0.00 2.90 G4
3 59271820852 KILEY WAY SNAACKZ LLC 2.38 500 0 500 88.19% 600 0 600 0.00 2.38 0.00 0.00 2.38 G4
4 59271820863 N5874 N PLEASANT VIEW RD NASS BUILDERS LLC 15.22 229,500 0 229,500 88.19% 260,200 0 260,200 0.00 0.00 0.00 15.22 15.22 G1
5 59271820881 2636 EASTERN AVE AURORA MEDICAL GROUP INC 4.00 537,900 1,368,100 1,906,000 88.19% 609,900 1,551,300 2,161,200 0.00 4.00 0.00 0.00 4.00 G2
6 59271820883 CARR RD BANK FIRST NATIONAL 8.92 180,500 0 180,500 88.19% 204,700 0 204,700 0.00 8.92 0.00 0.00 8.92 G2
7 59271820893 2700 EASTERN AVE BANK FIRST NATIONAL 2.16 66,600 1,419,600 1,486,200 88.19% 75,500 1,609,700 1,685,200 0.00 2.16 0.00 0.00 2.16 G2
8 59271820985 2615 EASTERN AVE PLYMOUTH RETAIL PARTNERS LLC 17.12 968,200 4,215,900 5,184,100 88.19% 1,097,900 4,780,500 5,878,400 0.00 17.12 0.00 0.00 17.12 G2
9 59271820987 S PLEASANT VIEW RD CITY OF PLYMOUTH 0.00 0 0 0 88.19% 0 0 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 X4

10 59271820988 2511 EASTERN AVE COMMUNITY BANK OF SHEBOYGAN INC 0.83 187,800 521,700 709,500 88.19% 212,900 591,600 804,500 0.00 0.83 0.00 0.00 0.83 G2
11 59271821046 S PLEASANT VIEW RD WHISPERING PINES OF PLYMOUTH LLC 18.82 4,300 0 4,300 88.19% 4,900 0 4,900 0.00 0.00 0.00 18.82 18.82 G4
12 59271821047 S PLEASANT VIEW RD WHISPERING PINES OF PLYMOUTH LLC 14.04 3,200 0 3,200 88.19% 3,600 0 3,600 0.00 0.00 0.00 14.04 14.04 G4
13 59271821077 2829 EASTERN AVE PLANKVIEW GREEN DEVELOPMENT LLC 1.92 264,200 0 264,200 88.19% 299,600 0 299,600 0.00 1.92 0.00 0.00 1.92 G2
14 59271821078 EASTERN AVE PLANKVIEW GREEN DEVELOPMENT LLC 9.14 157,900 0 157,900 88.19% 179,000 0 179,000 0.00 0.00 0.00 9.14 9.14 G2
15 59271827931 WALTON DR 57-23 LLC GOTTSACKER COMMERCIAL RE 1.06 159,000 0 159,000 88.19% 180,300 0 180,300 0.00 1.06 0.00 0.00 1.06 G2
16 59271827932 WALTON DR 57-23 LLC GOTTSACKER COMMERCIAL RE 1.21 181,500 0 181,500 88.19% 205,800 0 205,800 0.00 1.21 0.00 0.00 1.21 G2
17 59271827935 WALTON DR KETTLE VALLEY INVESTMENTS LLC 1.55 300 0 300 88.19% 300 0 300 0.00 1.55 0.00 0.00 1.55 G2
18 59271827936 WALTON DR KETTLE VALLEY INVESTMENTS LLC 1.64 400 0 400 88.19% 500 0 500 0.00 1.64 0.00 0.00 1.64 G2
19 59271827940 N PLEASANT VIEW RD CONCORD 36 LLC 6.17 79,900 0 79,900 88.19% 90,600 0 90,600 0.00 6.17 0.00 0.00 6.17 G5
20 59271827941 WALTON DR WAL-MART STORES INC 0.55 20,600 0 20,600 88.19% 23,400 0 23,400 0.00 0.55 0.00 0.00 0.55 G2
21 59271827942 WALTON DR K2 REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LLC 0.76 162,200 227,400 389,600 88.19% 183,900 257,900 441,800 0.00 0.76 0.00 0.00 0.76 G2
22 59271827943 563 N PLEASANT VIEW RD PLEASANT VIEW TOWNHOMES LLC 3.04 204,100 650,600 854,700 88.19% 231,400 737,700 969,100 0.00 0.00 3.04 0.00 3.04 G2
23 59271827944 PLEASANT VIEW RD COMMONWEALTH REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LLC 5.88 105,800 105,800 88.19% 120,000 0 120,000 0.00 0.00 5.88 0.00 5.88 G2
24 59271827945 KILEY WAY CONCORD 27 LLC 25.61 54,200 54,200 88.19% 61,500 0 61,500 0.00 0.00 0.00 25.61 25.61 G4 / G5
25 59271827946 595 KILEY WAY KANZELBERGER DANCE LLC 1.50 157,500 253,000 410,500 88.19% 178,600 286,900 465,500 0.00 1.50 0.00 0.00 1.50 G2
26 59271827947 KILEY WAY 57-23 LLC GOTTSACKER COMMERCIAL RE 3.73 412,600 412,600 88.19% 467,900 0 467,900 0.00 3.73 0.00 0.00 3.73 G2
27 59271827949 540 WALTON DR MME HOLDINGS LLC 3.54 498,600 1,207,500 1,706,100 88.19% 565,400 1,369,200 1,934,600 0.00 3.54 0.00 0.00 3.54 G2
28 59271827950 WALTON DR 57-23 LLC GOTTSACKER COMMERCIAL RE 3.21 468,900 468,900 88.19% 531,700 0 531,700 0.00 3.21 0.00 0.00 3.21 G2
29 59271829001 COLUMBIA DR PANKOW, JAMES W 2.25 500 500 88.19% 600 0 600 0.00 2.25 0.00 0.00 2.25 G4
30 59271829002 COLUMBIA DR PANKOW, JAMES W 3.03 700 700 88.19% 800 0 800 0.00 3.03 0.00 0.00 3.03 G4
31 59271829005 COLUMBIA DR PANKOW, JAMES W 3.03 700 700 88.19% 800 0 800 0.00 3.03 0.00 0.00 3.03 G4
32 59271829009 WALTON DR PANKOW, JAMES W 2.86 600 0 600 88.19% 700 0 700 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.86 2.86 G4
33 59271829011 WALTON DR PANKOW, JAMES W 2.23 500 0 500 88.19% 600 0 600 0.00 2.23 0.00 0.00 2.23 G4
34 59271820362 COUNTY ROAD E PLYMOUTH INTERGENERATIONAL COALITION LTD 7.08 0 0 0 88.19% 0 0 0 0.00 7.08 0.00 0.00 7.08 G2
35 59271820359 DOUGLAS RD 3 JS PROPERTIES LLC (was owned by Fair 2.05 0 0 0 88.19% 0 0 0 0.00 2.05 0.00 0.00 2.05 X4
36 59271820388 430 N HIGHLAND AVE PLYMOUTH 64 LLC 0.97 160,000 369,800 529,800 88.19% 181,400 419,300 600,700 0.00 0.00 0.97 0.00 0.97 X4
37 59271820389 404 N HIGHLAND Ave PLYMOUTH 64 LLC 1.62 240,000 599,300 839,300 88.19% 272,100 679,600 951,700 0.00 0.00 1.62 0.00 1.62 G2
38 59271820656 306 N HIGHLAND AVE SALEM GREEN BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION INC 4.45 0 0 0 88.19% 0 0 0 0.00 0.00 4.45 0.00 4.45 G2
39 59271820845 2107 KENSINGTON AVE City of Plymouth 28.67 0 0 0 88.19% 0 0 0 0.00 28.67 0.00 0.00 28.67 X4
40 59271820867 2002 EASTERN AVE FOXE OLSEN PARK LLC 2.00 309,200 309,000 618,200 88.19% 350,600 350,400 701,000 0.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 X4
41 59271820878 2110 EASTERN AVE GLS LLC 1.15 222,700 655,800 878,500 88.19% 252,500 743,600 996,100 0.00 1.15 0.00 0.00 1.15 G2
42 59271829597 (No Address) (condo lot) FAIRFIELD PLAZA CONDOMINIUM 7.72 0 0 0 88.19% 0 0 0 0.00 7.72 0.00 0.00 7.72 G2
43 59271820870 1808 EASTERN AVE REDEEMER LUTHERAN CHURCH 3.00 0 0 0 88.19% 0 0 0 0.00 3.00 0.00 0.00 3.00 X4
44 59271820866 1776 EASTERN AVE CITY OF PLYMOUTH 1.56 0 0 0 88.19% 0 0 0 0.00 1.56 0.00 0.00 1.56 X4

Less Wetland Acreage 0.00

Total Acreage 246.47 6,042,900 11,797,700 17,840,600 6,852,200 13,377,700 0 133.92 15.96 85.69 235.57
0.00% 54.34% 6.48% 34.77% 95.58%

20,229,900

The Assessment Roll 
Class, for each parcel, 

is required for the DOR 
filing

Assessment Roll  
Classification?       

(Residential = Class 1, 
Commercial = Class 2, 

Manufacturing = Class 3, Ag 
= Class 4 , Undeveloped = 
Class 5, Ag Forest = Class 

5M, Forest = Class 6, Other 
= Class 7 & Exempt = X)

Assessment Information Equalized ValueProperty Information
Mixed Use

Purpose Test



SECTION 5:  
Equalized Value Test 

The following calculations demonstrate that the City expects to be in 
compliance with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(gm)4.c., which requires that the 
equalized value of the taxable property in the proposed District, plus the value 
increment of all existing tax incremental districts, does not exceed 12% of the 
total equalized value of taxable property within the City.  

The equalized value of the increment of existing tax incremental districts within 
the City, plus the base value of the proposed District, totals $51,772,500. This 
value is less than the maximum of $139,405,260 in equalized value that is 
permitted for the City. 

*The City adopted a resolution to terminate TID No. 4 on April 30, 2024.  

  

Calculation of City Equalized Value Limit

City TID IN Equalized Value (Jan. 1, 2023) 1,161,710,500$        

TID Valuation Limit @ 12% of Above Value 139,405,260$       

Calculation of Value Subject to Limit

Estimated Base Value of Territory to be Included in District 20,229,900$         

Incremental Value of Existing Districts (Jan. 1, 2023) 31,542,600$          

Total Value Subject to 12% Valuation Limit 51,772,500$          

Total Percentage of TID IN Equalized Value 4.46%

Residual Value Capacity of TID IN Equalized Value 87,632,760$         

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 7

Valuation Test Compliance Calculation



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 12 

SECTION 6:  
Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All 
Proposed Public Works or Improvements Within the 
District 

Project Costs are any expenditure made, estimated to be made, or monetary 
obligations incurred or estimated to be incurred as outlined in this Plan. Project 
Costs will be diminished by any income, special assessments or other revenues, 
including user fees or charges, other than tax increments, received or 
reasonably expected to be received in connection with the implementation of 
the Plan. If Project Costs incurred benefit territory outside the District, a 
proportionate share of the cost is not a Project Cost. Costs identified in this 
Plan are preliminary estimates made prior to design considerations and are 
subject to change after planning, design and construction is completed. 

With all Project Costs, the costs of engineering, design, survey, inspection, 
materials, construction, restoring property to its original condition, apparatus 
necessary for public works, legal and other consultant fees, testing, 
environmental studies, permits, updating City ordinances and plans, judgments 
or claims for damages and other expenses are included as Project Costs. 

The following is a list of public works and other tax incremental financing 
eligible Project Costs that the City expects to make, or may need to make, in 
conjunction with the implementation of the District’s Plan. The map found in 
Section 7 of this Plan along with the Detailed List of Project Costs found in 
Section 8 provide additional information as to the kind, number and location of 
potential Project Costs. 

Property, Right-of-Way and Easement Acquisition 

Property Acquisition for Development 

To promote and facilitate development the City may acquire property within 
the District. The cost of property acquired, and any costs associated with the 
transaction, are eligible Project Costs. Following acquisition, other Project 
Costs within the categories detailed in this Section may be incurred to make 
the property suitable for development. Any revenue received by the City from 
the sale of property acquired pursuant to the execution of this Plan will be used 
to reduce the total project costs of the District. If total Project Costs incurred 
by the City to acquire property and make it suitable for development exceed 
the revenues or other consideration received from the sale or lease of that 
property, the net amount shall be considered “real property assembly costs” as 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 13 

defined in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1.c., and subject to recovery as an eligible 
Project Cost. 

Property Acquisition for Conservancy 

To promote the objectives of this Plan, the City may acquire property within 
the District that it will designate for conservancy. These conservancy objectives 
include: preserving historic resources or sensitive natural features; protection 
of scenic and historic views; maintaining habitat for wildlife; maintaining 
adequate open space; reduction of erosion and sedimentation by preserving 
existing vegetation; and providing adequate areas for management of 
stormwater. The cost of property acquired for conservancy, and any costs 
associated with the transaction, are eligible Project Costs. 

Acquisition of Rights-of-Way 

The City may need to acquire property to allow for installation of streets, 
driveways, sidewalks, utilities, stormwater management practices and other 
public infrastructure. Costs incurred by the City to identify, negotiate and 
acquire rights-of-way are eligible Project Costs. 

Acquisition of Easements 

The City may need to acquire temporary or permanent easements to allow for 
installation and maintenance of streets, driveways, sidewalks, utilities, 
stormwater management practices and other public infrastructure. Costs 
incurred by the City to identify, negotiate and acquire easement rights are 
eligible Project Costs. 

Relocation Costs 

If relocation expenses are incurred in conjunction with the acquisition of 
property, those expenses are eligible Project Costs. These costs may include, 
but are not limited to: preparation of a relocation plan; allocations of staff time; 
legal fees; publication of notices; obtaining appraisals; and payment of 
relocation benefits as required by Wis. Stat. Chapter 32 and Wis. Admin. Code 
ADM 92. 

Site Preparation Activities 

Environmental Audits and Remediation 

If it becomes necessary to evaluate any land or improvement within the District, 
any cost incurred by the City related to environmental audits, testing, and 
remediation are eligible Project Costs. 

Demolition 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 14 

To make sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs related to 
demolition and removal of structures or other land improvements, to include 
abandonment of wells or other existing utility services. 

Site Grading 

Land within the District may require grading to make it suitable for 
development, to provide access, and to control stormwater runoff. The City 
may need to remove and dispose of excess material, or bring in fill material to 
provide for proper site elevations. Expenses incurred by the City for site 
grading are eligible Project Costs. 

Utilities 

Sanitary Sewer System Improvements 

To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild 
or expand sanitary sewer infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project 
Costs include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or 
expansion of: collection mains; manholes and cleanouts; service laterals; force 
mains; interceptor sewers; pumping stations; lift stations; wastewater treatment 
facilities; and all related appurtenances. To the extent sanitary sewer projects 
undertaken within the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the 
District, the City will make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those 
costs corresponding to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project 
Costs. Implementation of the Project Plan may also require that the City 
construct, alter, rebuild or expand sanitary sewer infrastructure located outside 
of the District. That portion of the costs of sanitary sewer system projects 
undertaken outside the District which are necessitated by the implementation 
of the Project Plan are eligible Project Costs.  

Water System Improvements 

To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild 
or expand water system infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project Costs 
include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or expansion 
of: distribution mains; manholes and valves; hydrants; service laterals; pumping 
stations; wells; water treatment facilities; storage tanks and reservoirs; and all 
related appurtenances. To the extent water system projects undertaken within 
the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the District, the City will 
make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those costs corresponding 
to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and necessitated by the 
implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project Costs. Implementation 
of the Project Plan may also require that the City construct, alter, rebuild or 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 15 

expand water system infrastructure located outside of the District. That portion 
of the costs of water system projects undertaken outside the District which are 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan are eligible Project 
Costs. 

Stormwater Management System Improvements 

Development within the District will cause stormwater runoff. To manage this 
stormwater runoff, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild or expand 
stormwater management infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project 
Costs include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or 
expansion of: stormwater collection mains; inlets, manholes and valves; service 
laterals; ditches; culvert pipes; box culverts; bridges; stabilization of stream and 
river banks; and infiltration, filtration and detention Best Management Practices 
(BMP’s). To the extent stormwater management system projects undertaken 
within the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the District, the City 
will make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those costs 
corresponding to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project 
Costs. Implementation of the Project Plan may also require that the City 
construct, alter, rebuild or expand stormwater management infrastructure 
located outside of the District. That portion of the costs of stormwater 
management system projects undertaken outside the District which are 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan are eligible Project 
Costs. 

Electric Service 

To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade electric services. Relocation may require abandonment and 
removal of existing poles or towers, installation of new poles or towers, or 
burying of overhead electric lines. Costs incurred by the City to undertake this 
work are eligible Project Costs. 

Gas Service 

To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade gas mains and services. Costs incurred by the City to 
undertake this work are eligible Project Costs. 

Communications Infrastructure 

To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade infrastructure required for voice and data communications, 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 16 

including, but not limited to: telephone lines, cable lines and fiber optic cable. 
Costs incurred by the City to undertake this work are eligible Project Costs. 

Streets and Streetscape 

Street Improvements 

To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct or reconstruct 
streets, highways, alleys, access drives and parking areas. Eligible Project Costs 
include, but are not limited to: excavation; removal or placement of fill; 
construction of road base; asphalt or concrete paving or repaving; installation 
of curb and gutter; installation of sidewalks and bicycle lanes; installation of 
culverts, box culverts and bridges; rail crossings and signals; utility relocation, 
to include burying overhead utility lines; street lighting; installation of traffic 
control signage and traffic signals; pavement marking; right-of-way restoration; 
installation of retaining walls; and installation of fences, berms, and landscaping. 

Streetscaping and Landscaping 

To attract development consistent with the objectives of this Plan, the City may 
install amenities to enhance development sites, rights-of-way and other public 
spaces. These amenities include, but are not limited to: landscaping; lighting of 
streets, sidewalks, parking areas and public areas; installation of planters, 
benches, clocks, tree rings, trash receptacles and similar items; and installation 
of brick or other decorative walks, terraces and street crossings. These and any 
other similar amenities installed by the City are eligible Project Costs. 

Community Development 

Cash Grants (Development Incentives)  

The City may enter into agreements with property owners, lessees, or 
developers of land located within the District for sharing costs to encourage 
the desired kind of improvements and assure tax base is generated sufficient 
to recover Project Costs. No cash grants will be provided until the City executes 
a developer agreement with the recipient of the cash grant. Any payments of 
cash grants made by the City are eligible Project Costs. 

Miscellaneous 

Projects Outside the Tax Increment District 

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1.n, the City may undertake projects within 
territory located within one-half mile of the boundary of the District provided 
that: 1) the project area is located within the City’s corporate boundaries; and 
2) the projects are approved by the Joint Review Board. The cost of projects 
completed outside the District pursuant to this section are eligible project 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 17 

costs, and may include any project cost that would otherwise be eligible if 
undertaken within the District. The City intends to make the following project 
cost expenditures outside the District: 

• Eastside Sewer Interceptor - $2,600,000 (2030) 
• Eastern Ave & Car Road Intersection Improvements - $1,560,000 (2030) 
• Eastern Ave & Highland Ave Signal Upgrades - $520,000 (2026) 

Professional Service and Organizational Costs 

The costs of professional services rendered, and other costs incurred, in relation 
to the creation, administration and termination of the District, and the 
undertaking of the projects contained within this Plan, are eligible Project Costs. 
Professional services include but are not limited to: architectural; 
environmental; planning; engineering; legal; audit; financial; and the costs of 
informing the public with respect to the creation of the District and the 
implementation of the Plan. 

Administrative Costs 

The City may charge to the District as eligible Project Costs reasonable 
allocations of administrative costs, including, but not limited to, employee 
salaries. Costs allocated will bear a direct connection to the time spent by City 
employees relating to the implementation of the Plan. 

Financing Costs 

Interest expense, debt issuance expenses, redemption premiums, and any other 
fees and costs incurred in conjunction with obtaining financing for projects 
undertaken under this Plan are eligible Project Costs. 

 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 18 

SECTION 7:  
Maps Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses 

Maps Found on Following Pages. 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 19 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 20 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 21 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 22 

SECTION 8:  
Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs 

The following list identifies the Project Costs that the City currently expects to 
incur in implementing the District’s Plan. All projects identified and related costs 
reflect the best estimates available as of the date of preparation of this Plan. All 
costs are preliminary estimates and may increase or decrease. Certain Project 
Costs listed may become unnecessary, and other Project Costs not currently 
identified may need to be made. (Section 6 details the general categories of 
eligible Project Costs). Changes in Project Cost totals or the types of Project 
Costs to be incurred will not require that this Plan be amended. This Plan is not 
meant to be a budget nor an appropriation of funds for specific Project Costs, 
but a framework within which to manage Project Costs. 

 

 

 

 

  

Project ID Project Name/Type Ongoing Totals 1/2 Mile Non-Project Costs1 Est. Timing

1 Development Incentives 11,095,069 11,095,069 2027-2043
2 Public Infrastructure 6,955,000 6,955,000 4,680,000 1,300,000 2025-2030
3 Principal & Interest on Long Term Debt 8,792,842 8,792,842 Ongoing
4 Financing Costs 253,238 253,238 Ongoing
5 Ongoing Planning & Administrative Costs 480,000 480,000 Ongoing

Total Projects 27,576,148 27,576,148 4,680,000 1,300,000

Notes:
1. Sewer Utility non-project cost contribution to offset the Eastside Sewer Interceptor replacement. 

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 7

Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs

Est. Cost



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 23 

SECTION 9:  
Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods 
of Financing Estimated Project Costs and the Time When 
Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be Incurred 

This Section includes a forecast of the valuation increases expected within the 
District, the associated tax increment collections, a summary of how Project 
Costs would be financed, and a projected cash flow demonstrating that the 
District is economically feasible. 

 

Key Assumptions 

Project Costs the City plans to make are expected to create $69,400,000 in 
incremental value by 2030.  Estimated valuations and timing for construction 
of the Project are included in Table 1. Assuming the City’s current equalized TID 
Interim tax rate of $15.75 per thousand of equalized value, declining by $0.025 
annually, and 1% economic appreciation, the Project would generate 
$20,589,945 in incremental tax revenue over the 20-year term of the District 
as shown in Table 2. 

 

 

  



Table 1 – Development Assumptions 

 



Table 2 – Tax Increment Projection Worksheet 

 

 

 

Financing and Implementation 

Project costs related to the public infrastructure upgrades in the district will be 
financed using General Obligation Debt that will be over the life of the district.  
Table 3. provides a summary of the District’s financing plan. 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 26 

Table 3 – Financing Plan 

 

 

 

  

G.O. 
Promissory 

Note

G.O. 
Promissory 

Note
2025 2030

Projects
Public Infrastructure 1,560,000 4,095,000

Total Project Funds 1,560,000 4,095,000

Other Funds
Capitalized Interest 227,436

Estimated Finance Related Expenses
Municipal Advisor 27,400 39,700
Bond Counsel 20,000 25,000
Diclosure Counsel 13,000 16,250
Rating Agency Fee 15,000 20,000
Paying Agent 850 850
Underwriter Discount 12.50 22,938 12.50 52,250

Total Financing Required 1,886,624 4,249,050

Estimated Interest 3.50% (54,600) 3.50% (71,663)
Assumed spend down (months) 12 6

Rounding 2,977 2,613

Net Issue Size 1,835,000 4,180,000

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 7

Estimated Financing Plan

DEBT ISSUES



Based on the Project Cost expenditures as included within the cash flow exhibit (Table 4), the District is projected to accumulate sufficient funds by the year 2045 to pay off all Project 
cost liabilities and obligations. The projected closure is based on the various assumptions noted in this Plan and will vary dependent on actual Project Costs incurred and the actual 
amount of tax increments collected. 

 

Table 4 – Cash Flow 



SECTION 10: 
Annexed Property 

A tax incremental district cannot include annexed territory unless at least three 
years have elapsed since the annexation, or certain other requirements are met. 
None of the property within the proposed District boundary was annexed 
during the past three years. 

 

SECTION 11:  
Estimate of Property to Be Devoted to Retail Business 

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(5)(b), the City estimates that less than 35% of 
the territory within the District will be devoted to retail business at the end of 
the District’s maximum expenditure period.  

 

SECTION 12:  
Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, 
Map, Building Codes and City Ordinances 

Zoning Ordinances 

The proposed Plan is in general conformance with the City’s current zoning 
ordinances. Individual properties may require rezoning at the time of 
development. 

Master (Comprehensive) Plan and Map 

The proposed Plan is in general conformance with the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan identifying the area as appropriate for residential, commercial, and mixed-
use development.   

Building Codes and Ordinances 

Development within the District will be required to conform to State Building 
Codes and will be subject to the City's permitting and inspection procedures. 
The proposed Plan conforms to all relevant State and local ordinances, plans, 
and codes. No changes to the existing regulations are proposed or needed. 

 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 29 

SECTION 13:  
Statement of the Proposed Method for the Relocation of 
any Persons to be Displaced 

Should implementation of this Plan require relocation of individuals or business 
operations, relocations will be handled in compliance with Wis. Stat. Chapter 
32 and Wis. Admin. Code ADM 92. 

SECTION 14:  
How Creation of the Tax Incremental District Promotes 
the Orderly Development of the City 

Creation of the District and the implementation of the projects in its Plan will 
promote the orderly development of the City by creating much needed housing 
opportunities, creating opportunities for mixed use development, providing 
necessary public infrastructure improvements, and providing appropriate 
financial incentives for private development projects. Through use of tax 
increment financing, the City can attract new investment that results in 
increased tax base. Development will occur in an orderly fashion in accordance 
with approved plans so that the Projects will be compatible with adjacent land 
uses. Development of new uses in the District will add to the tax base and will 
generate positive secondary impacts in the community such as increased 
employment opportunities, needed housing, and mixed use development.    

 

 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 30 

SECTION 15:  
List of Estimated Non-Project Costs 

Non-project costs are public works projects which only partly benefit the 
District. Costs incurred that do not benefit the District may not be paid with tax 
increments. Examples of non-project costs are: 

• A public improvement made within the District that also benefits 
property outside the District. That portion of the total Project Costs 
allocable to properties outside of the District would be a non-project 
cost.  

• A public improvement made outside the District that only partially 
benefits property within the District. That portion of the total Project 
Costs allocable to properties outside of the District would be a non-
project cost. 

• Projects undertaken within the District as part of the implementation of 
this Project Plan, the costs of which are paid fully or in part by impact 
fees, grants, special assessments, or revenues other than tax increments. 

The sewer utility will transfer funds of $1,300,000 for a portion of the Eastside 
Sewer Interceptor that benefits properties outside of the District. 

 

 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 31 

SECTION 16:  
Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete 
and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(f) 

Legal Opinion Found on Following Page. 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 32 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 33 

SECTION 17:  
Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments 
Estimated to be Paid by the Owners of Property in the 
Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions 

The following projection is provided to meet the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 
66.1105(4)(i)4. 

 

Revenue 
Year

Sheboygan 
County

City of 
Plymouth

Plymouth 
School District

 
Technical 

College Total
Revenue 

Year

2026 0 0 0 0 0 2026
2027 60,598 140,082 99,788 9,255 309,722 2027
2028 161,536 373,418 266,006 24,670 825,631 2028
2029 203,750 471,002 335,521 31,118 1,041,390 2029
2030 211,421 488,735 348,154 32,289 1,080,599 2030
2031 213,185 492,814 351,059 32,559 1,089,617 2031
2032 214,964 496,925 353,988 32,830 1,098,707 2032
2033 216,757 501,069 356,940 33,104 1,107,870 2033
2034 218,564 505,247 359,916 33,380 1,117,106 2034
2035 220,385 509,457 362,915 33,658 1,126,416 2035
2036 222,221 513,702 365,939 33,939 1,135,801 2036
2037 224,072 517,980 368,986 34,221 1,145,260 2037
2038 225,938 522,293 372,059 34,506 1,154,796 2038
2039 227,818 526,640 375,155 34,793 1,164,407 2039
2040 229,714 531,022 378,277 35,083 1,174,095 2040
2041 231,624 535,439 381,423 35,375 1,183,861 2041
2042 233,550 539,891 384,595 35,669 1,193,705 2042
2043 235,492 544,378 387,791 35,965 1,203,627 2043
2044 237,448 548,902 391,013 36,264 1,213,628 2044
2045 239,421 553,461 394,261 36,565 1,223,708 2045

Totals 4,028,459 9,312,457 6,633,785 615,243 20,589,945

Estimated portion of taxes that owners of taxable property in each taxing jurisdiction 
overlaying district would pay by jurisdiction.

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 7



1 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE: September 18, 2014 

TO: Mayor and Common Council 
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator Utilities Manager.   
 
RE: Approval of Mill Pond Dam Construction Agreement 

 
In 2015, the City of Plymouth received a notice from the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources 
(WDNR) requiring that the spillway capacity of the Mill Pond Dam be brought into compliance with 
NR333.06 within 10 years (by 2025). As part of the 2023 budget, the City included funding to hire an 
engineering firm to assist in deciding whether to remove the dam completely or make necessary upgrades 
or replacements to meet DNR regulations. 
 
At the Common Council meeting on February 13, 2024, the Council approved Resolution 1 to replace the 
Mill Pond Dam and Resolution 2, which authorized the City to participate in the Department of Natural 
Resources Municipal Dam Grant Program. At the same meeting, the Council approved moving forward 
with the design of the Hydraulic Crest Gate. In early June, the City was awarded an additional matching 
grant of up to $640,000 for the project by the DNR. 
 
City staff has been working with Ayres Associates on the design and engineering of the project. Access is 
available for work on the eastern side of the project, as it is owned by the City. The western edge of the 
dam is owned by a private party at 623 E. Mill St. To properly construct the dam and provide for future 
maintenance, the following items are required at 623 E. Mill St: 

• Soil borings to ensure proper engineering 
• Temporary use of the entire parking lot at 623 E. Mill St for three months during dam construction 
• An indefinite permanent easement on the eastern side of 623 E. Mill St for future maintenance 

requirements 
 

The agreement between the City and the property owner of 623 E. Mill St, includes a one-time $65,000 
payment for the indefinite permanent easement, temporary construction easement, access for soil borings, 
ability to rely on the soil borings report, and compensation for any damage to the parking lot caused by 
large equipment.  The City Attorney is finalizing agreement details and the full version will be provided in-
advance of the Council meeting, but no significant terms are expected to change.  
 
Design, engineering, and prep work will continue for the project in 2024-25, with bidding and construction 
slated for 2025-26. 
 
Recommendation: Approve Mill Pond Dam Construction Agreement 
 
Attachment: 

• Mill Pond Dam Construction Agreement (to be provided prior to the meeting) 


	Common Council Agenda 9/24/24
	Consent Agenda
	3A. Common Council Meeting Minutes 9/10/24
	3BI. Approve Electric, Water and Sewer Sales Report - August 2024
	3BII. Approve Utility Related Write Offs for September - $1,744.98
	3C. Acknowledge Minutes for Filing
	3D. Approve Annual Mobile Home Park Application
	3E. Approve Room Tax Permit Application for TDW Rentals

	Proclamation
	6A. Recognition of Plymouth Community Television (TV-14)

	Resolution
	7A. No. 10 Consideration and Possible Action on Resolution Creating Tax Incremental District No. 7, Approving its Project Plan and Establishing its Boundaries

	New Business
	8A. Approval of Mill Pond Dam Construction Agreement


